# MINUTES BLOOMINGTON ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REGULAR MEETING - 4:00 P.M. WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 17, 2018 COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 109 EAST OLIVE STREET BLOOMINGTON, ILLINOIS

Members present: Mr. Robert Schultz, Mr. Terry Ballantini, and Ms. Victoria Harris, Chairman Tristan Bullington

Members absent: Mr. Jeff Brown, Mr. Veitengruber, Ms. Barbara Meek

Also present: Mr. George Boyle, Assistant Corporation Counsel

Mr. Bob Mahrt, Community Development Director

Ms. Izzy Rivera, Assistant City Planner

Chairman Bullington called the meeting to order at 4:03 p.m. Mr. Mahrt called the roll; with four members present, the Zoning Board of Appeals established a quorum.

#### **PUBLIC COMMENT:** None.

**MINUTES:** The Zoning Board of Appeals reviewed the September 19, 2018 regular meeting minutes. Ms. Harris corrected a name spelling error on page 2, it should read Mike Matejka. Ms. Harris motioned to approve the minutes as corrected. Seconded by Mr. Ballantini. The Board approved the minutes by voice vote, 4-0.

#### **REGULAR AGENDA:**

Z-20-18 Consideration, review and action on a petition submitted by Jason Taylor requesting a variance for the following: 1) an accessory structure greater than 1000 sf., a 200 sqft increase; and 2) an accessory structure greater than the principle building, 168 sqft increase; and 3) an accessory structure exceeding 14 ft in height, a 4.5 foot increase, to construct a garage at 1517 W. Graham St. (Ward 7).

Chairman Bullington introduced the case and swore in the petitioner, Mr. Jason Taylor, 1517 W. Graham. He also swore in Terrance Tay and Paul Segobiano. Mr. Taylor provided additional pictures numbered 1-6, marked as Exhibit A for the record. He reviewed the photographs for the Board. He reviewed the neighborhood view from across the street and surrounding areas and the garage he would like to take down. Mr. Taylor is requesting a larger garage because he needs additional storage. The home is small and with a finished basement he would not have any storage. He is requesting the additional height because that would give him the trusses that he would like. The pitch of the proposed garage would match the pitch of the house. The garage will not be a Morton building, it will be a stick built garage that will resemble the house. The petitioner stated that he has paid \$5100.00 a year in storage for the past ten years. Mr. Taylor stated that his property does not show up on any zoning maps and City staff was not originally sure what the zoning was. He stated that he would like to update the garage and stated that the height aspect of the proposed garage was important for the project. Chairman Bullington asked what physical characteristics his property had that

would make strict adherence to the code difficult. Mr. Taylor stated that he did not understand the question. Chairman Bullington explained physical characteristics that may make development difficult. Mr. Taylor stated that his property does not have any characteristics such as those. Mr. Ballantini asked why Mr. Taylor wanted to exceed the height requirements. Mr. Taylor stated that he needs the height of the pitch and truss in order to comfortably store his truck in the garage. He would also like to be able to load and unload his children's race cars, previously he has been unloading in the street. The house and the garage would match as well, if he had the pitch and truss that he wanted and the garage was sitting too low it would not be visually what he would like. Mr. Ballantini stated the request for the height appeared to have more to do with aesthetics than functionality. Mr. Taylor stated that his Ford F350 truck would not fit into a 7 foot garage. Mr. Schultz stated that in his experience architects would favor having the pitch of the house and the pitch of the garage match. Ms. Harris asked if the garage would be larger than the house. Mr. Taylor stated that the house would be 168 square feet larger than the home. He stated he would be willing to compromise on the square footage but not on height, as that is what is most important for the project to come out proper. Chairman Bullington asked staff if this was an addition to the house, there would not be any setback issues or issues with size. Staff confirmed that with an attached addition to the house, these particular issues would not exists. Mr. Taylor stated that he was given this information by other staff members. He didn't want the addition to look out of place with a deteriorating breezeway. Mr. Mahrt asked if the petitioner would be installing a lift in the garage. Mr. Taylor stated that he would not be, the appearance of the garage is his concern. He does not have neighbors to the north or to the west, he would not be obstructing views.

Terance Tay, 1518 W Graham, lives to the south of the petitioner. They have been neighbors for 6 years. He stated the property is maintained and the variance is for better aesthetics. He has a two story accessory carriage house, which is approximately 100 years old. The carriage house has a 12 foot pitch to match the house. He has no opposition to the variance, and is in favor. This would continue to improve the property. Mr. Ballantini asked when the accessory structures on his property were built. Mr. Tay stated approximately in the 1960's.

Paul Segobiano, 1501 W Graham Street, lives does the road to the east of the petitioner. He has lived there for 55 years, and is proud to be part of the "40 acres of Bloomington". He stated the house at 1517 was beginning to deteriorate. Mr. Taylor has come into the neighborhood and enhanced the house. He also owns a business in the 40 acres of Bloomington. He does not think the variance would be detrimental to the block. He stated there are other examples in town of garages which are not compatible with the surrounding homes. There are structures that are larger than the house.

Ms. Rivera stated that an attached structure would be considered an addition to the home with possible direct access to and from the accessory strucure. She presented the staff report and the recommendation to deny the variance. Ms. Rivera provided the board with an overview of the general standards the Board uses to review Zoning Cases. Ms. Rivera provided pictures of the subject property, the surrounding properties and an aerial view of the neighborhood as well as the zoning view. She stated the site is located in a block which contains larger lots than those in the R-1B Medium Density Single Family Residence District. The proposed garage would exceed the 1000 square foot requirement and exceed the size of the principle structure. There are no encroachments in any yards because the lot is large. The structure

would exceed the limits to height and size. The specifications that are presented in the packet by the petitioner show that the garage would be used for storage only. Staff looked at the standards and if hardship exists. Staff found that there are no hardships and that the petitioner can make reasonable use of his property as it exists. The petitioner could reduce the size of the proposed garaged and not require a variance. Staff recommends denial of the variance.

Chairman Bullington declared the evidentiary hearing closed.

Ms. Harris stated she appreciates the aesthetic consideration to improve the neighborhood and his lot. Chairman Bullington stated he also appreciated the aesthetic considerations the petitioner is giving towards the project but he must consider the standards and apply them accordingly. Ms. Harris asked if the petitioner could amend the petition to reflect a connection to the structure. Mr. Mahrt stated if the Board rules unfavorably, the petitioner could secure a building permit for a new attached structure or a new structure with the existing breezeway, there would be no need to consider a variance as he would be able to do this by right.

The Board will consider each factor and take a position on each factor and state if the factor is "met" or "not met". Mr. Mahrt called each factor and performed a roll call vote for each factor for a variance (44.13-4D) with the following votes cast:

Factor 1. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 2. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 3. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 4. Mr. Schultz—abstain; Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 5. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—met.

Chairman Bullington requested the Board vote in favor or against the petition for a variance, case Z-20-18. The variance was denied, 4-0, with the following votes called: Mr. Ballantini—no; Ms. Harris—no; Mr. Schultz—no; Chairman Bullington—no.

Since there are less than 5 members present, the petitioner has the right to appeal to City Council.

Z-21-18 Consideration, review and action of a petition submitted by Amber Rogers and Bobby Heinrich for a variance to allow 2' increase in fence height in the front yard, from the required 4 foot fence height at 1015 W MacArthur Ave. (Ward 6)

Chairman Bullington introduced the case and swore in the petitioner, Bobby Heinrich. He also swore in Carrie Van Gundy. Mr. Heinrich stated he did not understand why the location of the proposed fence would be considered a front yard. Chairman Bullington stated it was because he has a corner lot, the Zoning Code states he has two front yards. Mr. Heinrich stated he was not aware and he was not aware that he needed a permit to install a new fence since he was replacing a fence he removed because it was leaning toward the street. He stated that placing the fence further into the lot would cause the same leaning as the previous fence, this is the only good location for it, along the sidewalk. Chairman Bullington stated that the fence could be placed there, as long as it was 4 feet in height. Mr. Ballantini asked why 6 feet. Mr. Heinrich stated privacy reasons. He has only lived there for 3 months. There was some discussion of other fences in the area and the possible heights.

Carrie Van Gundy, stated the fence the petitioner would like to put up will look nice. The house and lot is raised, therefore a higher fence is necessary for privacy reasons. The previous owner did have a very small fence but did not have the difficulties the petitioner has. They have not shut out the neighbors and she feels completely in support. Ms. Van Gundy stated the fence will not be a visibility issue coming from the alley or from Western. She stated 6 feet is reasonable considering the height of the lot. Ms. Harris asked if other houses were raised, Ms. Van Gundy stated her home was not.

Ms. Rivera presented the staff report and the recommendation to deny the variance. Ms. Rivera provided pictures of the subject property, the surrounding properties and an aerial view of the neighborhood as well as the zoning view. The proposed fence could be placed at its current location, as the petitioner has already started. The fence would need to be 4 feet and would not necessitate a variance. Staff has not received any evidence that a fence would not be buildable further back on the property. There are some grading and sloping, however not significant enough to cause a hardship. There is documentation from other homes which have a fence that is 4 feet tall. This lot is a corner lot and is along a street that does not have homes that face each other. Staff was unable to locate any 6 foot tall fences in the front yard in the surrounding neighborhood. The Code calls for 4 foot fences in the front yard so that uninviting neighborhood and inhibited visibility are not promoted, for these reasons staff is recommending denial of the variance.

Chairman Bullington declared the evidentiary hearing closed.

The Board will consider each factor and take a position on each factor and state if the factor is "met" or "not met". Mr. Mahrt called each factor and performed a roll call vote for each factor for a variance (44.13-4D) with the following votes cast:

Factor 1. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 2. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 3. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—not me; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 4. Mr. Schultz—not met; Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Factor 5. Mr. Ballantini—not met; Ms. Harris—not met; Mr. Shultz—met; Chairman Bullington—not met.

Chairman Bullington requested the Board vote in favor or against the petition for a variance, case Z-21-18. The variance was denied, 4-0, with the following votes called: Mr. Ballantini—no; Ms. Harris—no; Mr. Schultz—no; Chairman Bullington—no.

Since there are less than 5 members present, the petitioner has the right to appeal to City Council.

Z-22-18 Consideration, review and action on a recommendation to the Planning Commission on the proposed text and map amendments to the Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 44, Division 9 of the Bloomington City Code. (possible actions include recommending approval as drafted, recommending approval with amendments, or recommending denial)

Mr. Mahrt gave a brief history of the commencement of the comprehensive update with the hiring of Houseal Lavigne and Associates. They looked at the variances that were being requested and what anomalies were recurring. Three major updates were produced: Lots and Yards 9.3, Permitted Encroachments 9.4, and Fences 9.10. Mr. Mahrt pointed out the parts of the Ordinance that have been updated or consolidated and found in the Board members packet. The changes help clarify how lots and yards are being defined, and allow staff to better interpret the Code. Ms. Harris sought an example of a lot not having adequate area and dimension. The Board members discussed the highlighted portions of the updated Code found in their packet.

Chairman Bullington stated Section 9 will not be encountered only when a petitioner will go before the Board for a variance. He stated any changes the Board would like see in this section should be called out.

Mr. Mahrt stated that section 9.10 for fences have been refined. A table has been added and the changes that have been made, make the section more clear and staff more able to interpret and apply the code. The Board discussed fence grade and applying the Code to variance cases.

Chairman Bullington stated they could recommend changes or make no recommendations at all. Mr. Boyle stated that the numbering will be updated as well, for clarity and for usability purposes.

Chairman Bullington stated that he has no strong recommendations for Division 9. Mr. Shultz seconded the motion to give no recommendation and no motion. Since there were no recommendation or motions, the Board proceeded to the next agenda item.

Z-23-18 Consideration, review and action on a recommendation to the Planning Commission on the proposed text and map amendments to the Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 44, Division 17 of the Bloomington City Code. (possible actions include

recommending approval as drafted, recommending approval with amendments, or recommending denial)

Chairman Bullington introduced the case. Mr. Boyle stated Division 17 is appropriate for the Zoning Board to review, as well as direction given by City Council. There have already been suggestions to the consultant, such as renumbering for coherence, board procedure to include best practices, and revisions to public hearing procedures. Mr. Boyle suggested the Board review the sign code appeals, and the standards for the variance for signs. Mr. Boyle stated staff is recommending that the same set of standards for variances be used for sign variances. This draft is different from the previous ordinance, in regards to sign code appeals. In this draft, they are appealable to City Council.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

# Division 17-2 Decision Making Bodies (BZA, HPC, PC) Section A.2.a: Officers and Section A.2.d: "The Secretary to shall have the following duties:"

He suggested the removal of "secretary" in this draft. Staff has been responsible for the duties outlined, and there is no desire from the Board to take on those responsibilities. Ms. Harris agreed with the recommendation.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend:

**Division 17- Administrative Procedures and Enforcement** 

	Revision	Justification
17-2 A.2.a	Revise language to remove reference to "secretary"	Staff is currently in role
17-2 A.2.d	Revise to remove in its entirety	Staff is currently in role

Seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

#### Division 17-7 Special Uses, H: Standards of Approval.

This section lists the 6 factors the Board is to consider when granting a special use. Chairman Bullington suggests the way this is currently written appears that the standards 1-4 are optional and 5-6 are required to be found together. The intent, and what the Board has done in the past, is ensure that each of the factors are mandatory. He suggested that the language should be changed to state: "No special use application shall be recommended by the Board of Zoning Appeals or approved by the City Council unless all of the following factors are found:"

This recommendation will make it clear that all standards are mandatory and are to be found in order to grant a special use. Ms. Harris agreed with the change.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend:

# Section 17-7 Special Uses, H: Standard of Approval

#### Draft ZBA Minutes 10/17/18

	Revision	Justification
17-7 H	Revised to read: No special use application shall be recommended by the Board of Zoning Appeals or approved by the City Council unless all of the following factors are found:	

Seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

# Section 17-8 Variations, F: Standards for Variations.

This is similar to his previous suggestion. Chairman Bullington would like to make it clear that all the 5 standards are mandatory. Therefore he suggests changing the language from, "A variation from the terms of this Code shall not be granted by the Board of Zoning Appeals unless and until findings of fact are submitted demonstrating:" to "A variation from the terms of this Code shall not be granted by the Board of Zoning Appeals unless and until findings of fact are submitted demonstrating all of the following factors are met:" The intent is to make it clear that these are not 5 things to consider but that they are all requirements.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend

#### Section 17-8 Variations, F: Standards for Variations

	Revision	Justification
17-8 F	Revised to read: A variation from the terms of this Code shall not be granted by the Board of Zoning Appeals unless and until findings of fact are submitted demonstrating all of the following factors are met:	Language is more clear

Seconded by Mr. Ballantini.

Mr. Schultz discussed standard 4, "granting the variation requested will not give the applicant special privilege that is denied to others by the Code" He suggests the standard may be unfair at times as there are many parts of the City that have been established before the Code, giving them the privilege that is now not being given to new applicants. Chairman Bullington stated he understood his concerns. His objective with the recommended revision would be to make it clear that all 5 standard should be mandatory and met. Mr. Boyle stated all of these factors do contain the word "and" after each, which does make it clear that the standards are to be viewed together. Chairman Bullington would still like to make things clear with the revision.

The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

# Section 17-8 Variations, H: Sign Code Appeals and Variations #1

Chairman Bullington stated the language in this section limits the Board. If the Board were to consider an appeal that the Administrator has denied, the Board would only be allowed to uphold or reverse the decision. This would not give the Board the ability to have the Administrator consider something else, go back and review and then make a decision. He would like to include a middle ground, which allows the Board to remand the matter back to the Administrator for further consideration consistent with the Boards ruling.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend

Section 17-8 Variations, H: Sign Code Appeals and Variations #1, last sentence

	Revision	Justification
17-8 H	Revised to read: The Board may direct the Administrator to issue the permit or statement permitting the sign in accordance with its decision or may remand the matter for further consideration and investigation consistent with the Boards ruling	Language provided by ZBA

Seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

#### Section 17-8 Variations, H Sign Code Appeals and Variations #3,4

This section allows for different variation standards for sign cases instead of using the standards for all other variations. He does not think there should be different criteria for any variances. His recommendation would be to remove #3 and 4 and in its place state, "The Board may grant a variation from the provisions or requirements of Chapter 3 of this code only where the standards for variations contained in 17-8 F (17-8 Variations, F: Standards for Variations) are met" this will refer the matter back to the same standards the Board has for every other variance request.

Mr. Ballantini asked about the reference to 800 square feet in regards to the size of signs. Chairman Bullington stated that has never been relevant when doing sign variations since he has been on the Board. Mr. Boyle stated staff has discussed this as well with the consultant, and they do not believe the reference to 800 square feet is useful. Staff would also recommend making the same standards for all variations. Section H #3,4 are not clear nor helpful when looking at sign variations.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend

Section 17-8 Variations, H: Sign Code Appeals and Variations #3 and 4 to read:

	Revision	Justification
17-8 H.3	Revised to read: The Board may grant a variation from the provisions or requirements of Chapter 3 of this code only where the standards for variations contained in Section: 17-8. F. are met.	Language provided by ZBA
17-8 H.4	Revised to remove in its entirety	Language provided by ZBA

Seconded by Ms. Harris.

Mr. Ballantini asked if Chairman Bullington wanted to eliminate all the standards for signs. Chairman Bullingotn stated he does because the other standards are even more broad and similar to the sign variance standards and this would also make the variations consistent. If the Board decides to no change #3, he would motion to eliminate #4. #4 suggests another hearing to review standards that do not make sense. Mr. Ballantini asked if the parameters referenced for signs would be changed. Mr. Boyle stated that section is the Sign Code and it will be redrafted and updated as well. Staff reviewed the standard for variances and compared them to the standards for sign variances, they are the same except for the reference to 800 square feet. Staff did not feel the need for two set of standards for variances. Ms. Harris stated section #4 could allow for arguments in many direction and does not have value. Chairman Bullington suggested the language is outdated as well.

The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

# Section 17-8 Variations, I: Decisions

Chairman Bullington suggests removing the petitioner's ability to appeal to City Council and instead give them the normal rights someone would have when appealing a decision, and appeal it to the Court. He suggested the Board's decision is final unless the petitioner would like to follow the Administrative Appeal Act. This applies to the majority of circumstances except for the Zoning Board.

Mr. Schultz stated this would eliminate the petitioner's ability to appeal to City Council completely. Chairman Bullington stated that City Council would not be able to overturn the Board when they have unanimously voted to grant or deny something. Mr. Schultz disagrees with the suggestion. Mr. Boyle stated if the Zoning Board were to be the final decision maker the petitioner would have 35 days to appeal under the Administrative Review Act. Mr. Boyle has not seen the exception of "fewer than 5" member rule, however he has not surveyed every code. This make the Board's ruling sometimes final and sometimes not final.

Ms. Harris stated the Board does its due diligence and assesses every standard with discussions. City Council may not necessarily be going through the process and can overturn the Board's decision, giving the Board no power. She agrees with Chairman Bullington. Chairman

Bullington stated the Board is appointed and not beholden to constituents. He doesn't believe the Board is needed if City Council would still be able to overturn a decision. Mr. Ballantini stated the Board could have a responsibility to City Council since the Board is not elected, but they are all appointed by the Mayor. Chairman Bullinton stated if Council could amended the Code to reflect what they would like the Board to do. Ms. Harris stated that Board is given a protocol to follow. Mr. Schultz gave an example of when the City Council was able to overturn a decision by the Board that was beneficial to the community. He does not feel that City Council overturns the Boards decision often and he will vote to maintain the current Code as written for this section. He stated the Court is available for those who have the time and money to appeal and the appeal to City Council may be others only option. Chairman Bullington stated it appears Mr. Schultz has pointed out a flaw with the way the Code is written. Chairman Bullington stated the solution is to amend the Code, not give City Council the decision to overturn a decision. Mr. Schultz stated there could be a different outcome if there is trial by jury or judge. Chairman Bullington stated going to the Court is an opportunity to determine if the Code was applied correctly by the Board.

The Board discussed further on the merits of both arguments to remove the opportunity to appeal to City Council based on a Board of less than 5 members. Mr. Boyle gave some observations. He stated the consultant and staff have discussed reviewing the Code every 2 years to see what is working and not working. Another alternative could be to change less than 5 members to less than 4 members. He stated another section of the Code reads something along the lines of "4 concurrent votes is necessary for a petition to be accepted". Mr. Ballantini asked how many cases have been overturned. Mr. Boyle stated about 2-3 a year. Chairman Bullington stated the last case was unanimously denied by the Board and then City Council overturned the decision without looking at the standards. Ms. Harris stated the Board is mandated to have rational for every decision that is made and City Council did not give any rationale.

Chairman Bullington motioned to amend:

# Section 17-8 Variations. I: Decisions

	Revision	Justification
17-8 I.1	Revised to read: Decisions of the Board of Zoning Appeals on variations initiated hereunder shall be final and reviewable only in the Court in accordance with the applicable Statues of the State of Illinois (735 ILCS 5/3-101, et. Seq.),	
17-8 I 1.1,2	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA
17-8 I #2	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA
17-8 I #3	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA

The motion was seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved 3-1, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—no; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington suggested review of:

# Section 17-12 Administrative Appeals, K: Decision.

Chairman Bullington stated this section discusses the same thing just discussed, which allows administrative appeals from the Board, to be appealed to City Council if there are fewer than 5 members. His recommendation would be to remove everything after K., 1, and the citation to the statue. Mr. Boyle stated K.1 was inadvertently put into the draft. The Code which the City of Bloomington is currently operating under does not have this appeal to City Council. Mr. Boyle state the changes Chairman Bullington is suggesting would keep the code as it is currently. In respects to administrative appeals, the Zoning Board is the final decision maker. Chairman Bullington stated removing this section would remove layers of bureaucracy.

Chairman Bullington motioned to recommend:

Section 17-12 Administrative Appeals, K: Decision

	Revision	Justification
17-12 K.1	Revised to read: All decisions of the Board of Zoning Appeals on appeals initiated hereunder shall be final and reviewable only in the Courts in accordance with the applicable Statues of the State of Illinois (735 ILCS 5/3-101, et seq.)	Language provided by ZBA
17-12 K.1 a) b)	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA
17-12 K #2	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA
17-12 K #3	Revised to remove in its entirety	Recommendation provided by ZBA

Seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

Chairman Bullington referred the Board back to Section 17-8 Variations, I, and stated the Board has recommended everything after the statue be removed and opened a discussion to add something else in its place or leave it as previously recommended. Mr. Boyle stated that in the

current code in Ch. 44 Section 13 E (c) (d) (8) it states that a "concurring vote of four (4) members of the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be required to approve or recommend approval of a petition" He stated this could be in the current draft and something that the Board could recommend or not recommend for consistency reasons. Chairman Bullington asked if there were 4 members and only 3 agreed it would not be able to move forward but with the change and under the current situation the Board would have to unanimously agree to move forward, if there were 4 Board members.

Chairman Bullington stated the Board could add a #2 after the amended recommendation previously voted on. An affirmative vote of 4 members of the Zoning Board of Appeals is required to grant a variance.

Since the numbers may not be correct, he suggested an addition to Section 17-8 Variations I: Decisions regardless if the previous recommendation is followed, and state that the Boards decision are only valid if 4 members support it.

Chairman Bullington motioned an addition:

#### Section 17-8 Variations, I: Decisions

	Revision	Justification
17-8 I New section	Revised to read: An affirmative vote of four (4) members is required to approve the variance	Language provided by ZBA

Seconded by Ms. Harris. The motion was approved, 4-0, with the following votes cast on roll call: Mr. Ballantini—yes; Ms. Harris—yes; Mr. Schultz—yes; Chairman Bullington—yes.

# **ADJOURNMENT**

Chairman Bullington motioned to adjourn. Seconded by Mr. Schultz. The motion was approved by voice vote. The meeting adjourned at 6:23 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted, Izzy Rivera Assistant City Planner